VILLAGE OF CROTON-ON-HUDSON
DRAFT MINUTES OF THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS MEETING
THURSDAY April 11, 2024

PRESENT:  Christine Wagner, Chairperson
James Tuman
Daron Weber
Doug Olcott
Rocco Mastronardi

ALSO PRESENT: Ron Wegner, Assistant Engineer P.E.

1. CALL TO ORDER:

Chairperson Wagner called the Zoning Board of Appeals meeting to order at 8:02p.m.

2. NEW BUSINESS

a) Rossoff, Fred & Jessica, Owners—80 Morningside Drive-Located in a RA-9 Residential District
and designated on the Tax Maps of the Village of Croton-on-Hudson as Section 79.9 Block 6 Lot

5. Request a total side yard variance from Village Zoning Code Section 230-33A for a replacement
deck.

PRESENT: Mr. Fred. Rossoff, Owner
Mr. Lewis Roane, Architect

Mr. Roane introduced himself to the Board as the architect for the project. Mr. Rossoff stated he was the
property owner. Mr. Roane stated that his clients are looking to replace an existing deck with a bigger
deck and were requesting a total side yard variance of 3.68’ft but would ask to round that number up to
3.7°ft and specified that the stairs were not included in the setback request.

It was noted that the house was built prior to Zoning regulations and the left side of the structure was
legalized in 1986 with a side yard variance. Mr. Roane shared that there was a previously granted side
yard in 1986. Mr. Wegner stated that the variance was for the pre-existing house and the house at the
time met the total side yard setback requirement but needed a side yard variance to allow for the existing
house to sit between 6.62’ft and 6.84’ft from the side property line. Mr. Wegner added that the original
variance did not need to be revisited.

The Board clarified that the new, proposed deck would be 20’ft from the side yard property line therefore
requiring a total side yard variance not a side yard variance. Mr. Roane explained that the proposed deck
is slightly larger than the existing deck increasing its non-compliance. Mr. Wegner added that the
existing deck was not compliant but that it was irrelevant because the deck is being removed and replaced
requiring a combined side yard setback. It was noted that the existing deck was not built with the original
house and it was unknown if the deck was present when the 1986 variance was granted. Mr. Wegner
shared that there is a 2~ larger deck located further back on the property but that it will be removed prior
to the construction of the new deck. Mr. Rosoff added that that both existing decks on the property would



be removed and replaced with one larger deck. The Board agreed that the proposed project would help to
“clean-up” the property. Chairperson Wagner shared that the Board received two letters of support from
neighbors but asked the applicant if they received any opposition from 186 Old Post Road South as that
property sits directly below 80 Morningside Dr. The applicant stated that they did not hear of any
complaints.

Chairperson Wagner then opened the meeting to the public. Hearing no comment from the public, the
hearing was closed.

The Board reviewed and discussed the 5 Factors:

No undesirable change in the character of the neighborhood nor detriment to nearby properties will be
produced by the granting of the variance.

The benefit sought by the applicant can be achieved by a method other than the requested variance; but
without as much usable space.

The requested variance is not substantial.

The proposed variance will not have an adverse effect or impact on the physical or environmental
conditions in the neighborhood or district;

The difficulty alleged by the applicant was self-created.

MOTION: Mr. Tuman made a motion to grant a total side yard variance of 4 ft for a rear deck. Seconded by
Mr. Olcott. The motion was carried by a vote of 5-0. All in Favor. Roll Call: Mr. Tuman, yes, Mr.
Olcott, yes, Mr. Weber, yes, Mr. Mastronardi, yes, Chairperson Wagner, yes

b) AC General Contractor, Inc.—167 Maple Street-Located in a RB 2-Family Residential
District and designated on the Tax Maps of Croton-on-Hudson as Section 68.17 Block 4 Lot 37.
Request for a rear yard variance from Village Zoning Code Section 230-34 for a proposed 2-
story rear deck for a 2-family house.

PRESENT: John Alfonzetti, Engineer

Mr. Alfonzetti introduced himself as the representative for the applicants, AC Construction. Mr.
Alfonzetti stated that the applicants were approved by the Planning Board to construct a new, 2-family
residence at 167 Maple Street and that he was present to request a variance for a 2-tier, rear deck. Mr.
Alfonzetti explained that the 2-story deck would allow for each family to have their own private outdoor
space. Mr. Alfonzetti stated that the property was a flag lot and that it is not visible from Grand Street or
Maple Street. Mr. Alfonzetti stated that they are applying for a 9’ft rear yard variance and noted that the
stairs were not included in the variance.

Mr. Alfonzetti provided new site pictures to the Board during the meeting to better illustrate the lot and
building site. The Board asked if a house ever existed on the lot. Mr. Alfonzetti replied stating that as
far as he knew there was never a house there and that it had always been a flag lot. Mr. Alfonzetti shared

2



that it was not part of the subdivision. Mr. Wegner, Assistant Village Engineer added that the driveway
for the new residence was originally off Grand Street and it was the property that subdivided the lot.

Mr. Wegner stated that the house will be set relatively far back from the road. Mr. Alfonzetti added that
there is only house that would see the decks and that they have not received any opposition from them.

Mr. Wegner shared with the Board that the house was approved by the Planning Board and that the deck
was on the original plans when the Planning Board granted the site plan approval. It was made clear that
the variance request was only for the 2-story deck. The Board asked if there would be an egress issued,
Mr. Alfonzetti stated there would not be because it is a 2-family house.

The Board asked what the grading of the property was like by the stone wall. Mr. Alfonzetti described it
as being “almost dead level flat.” The Board asked Mr. Wegner if the house of the original owner of the
driveway was a 1 or 2 family. Mr. Wegner sated that he believes it was a single-family home.

The Board discussed and agreed that they were not large decks in practicality and for this type of structure
they would be a nice enhancement. Furthermore, the Board noted that it is likely that if the decks were not
a part of the original build, chances are they may consider adding decks in the future.

Chairperson Wagner opened the public hearing. With no one being heard, the public hearing was
closed. And the meeting was opened for discussion from the Board.

The Board reviewed the 5 Factors:
1. No undesirable change in the character of the neighborhood nor detriment to nearby properties
will be produced by the granting of the variance.

The Board agreed there would be no change in the neighborhood as the residence is new
construction.

2. The benefit sought by the applicant cannot be achieved by a method other than the requested
variance.

3. The requested variance is substantial.

The Board discussed and agreed that the request was fairly substantial but mitigated by how deep
and setback the lot is.

4. The proposed variance will not have an adverse effect or impact on the physical or
environmental conditions in the neighborhood or district.

5. The difficulty alleged by the applicant was self-created.



MOTION: Mr. Weber made a motion to grant a rear yard variance of 9’ ft for a 2-story deck for a 2-family
residence. Seconded by Mr. Mastronardi. The motion was carried by a vote of 5-0. All in Favor. Roll
Call: Mr. Weber, yes, Mr. Mastronardi, yes, Mr. Tuman, yes, Mr. Olcott, yes, Chairperson Wagner, yes.

c) O’Keefe, Susan & Chris, Tenants/Business Owners, Baked By Susan—379 South Riverside
Ave-Located in C-2 General Commercial and Harmon/South Riverside Gateway Overlay
District and designated on the Tax Maps of Croton-on-Hudson as Section 79.13 Blk 2 Lot

26. Request for an amendment to a previously granted variance from Village Zoning Code
Section 230-51A requesting the removal of the condition to purchase seven (7) Village issued
parking permits to offset the lack of required on-site parking.

PRESENT: Chris and Susan O’Keefe, Tenants/Business Owners of Baked By Susan

Chairperson Wagner called the applicants, Mr. & Mrs. O’Keefe forward and requested they
provide a full background of their application as there were new members on the Board since the
granting of the previous variance in 2019.

Mr. O’Keefe introduced himself to the Board and thanked them for their time and services. Mr.
O’Keefe stated that before their application was heard, he wanted to formally request that their
application be sent back to the Planning Board for review. Mr. O’Keefe shared that he felt they
were initially sent to the Zoning Board in error with the incorrect number of off-street parking
spot requirements given the proposed setup they were going to have. Mr. O’Keefe shared that
since COVID, they rearranged their available seating (reducing the number of seats to 20) and
believed they currently met bulk parking regulations and no longer needed the variance requiring
the purchase of 7 additional off-street parking permits from the Village.

Mr. O’Keefe added that as they have 450 sq ft of service and retail space which they had 2 spaces
for. Mr. O’Keefe stated that they believed the extra spaces were no longer warranted and did not
need the 7 required off-street parking permits based on the retail/service area square footage. Mr.
O’Keefe again asked for the ZBA to refer their application back to the Planning Board for review
as they are not seeking a variance because the required 7 spots are available behind the building.

The Board asked the applicant if they had any communications with the Planning Board. Mr.
O’Keefe stated they had not had correspondence with the Planning Board. Mr. O’Keefe shared
that several weeks ago they had been contacted by the Village and told that if they did not
purchase the required permits for the off-street parking spaces, the Village would issue a violation
for not following the conditions of the variance granted in May 2019.

The Board then clarified how the off-street parking requirements were originally determined. Mr.
Wegner, Village Engineer explained that the building has eight (8) 1-bedroom units on the upper
stories which require 1 off-street parking space for every bedroom therefore totaling a
requirement of 8 off-street parking spaces (for the residential stories). Mr. Wegner further
explained that there was also a requirement to have 1 off-street space for every 250 square feet of
commercial space and there is a total of 2,500 sq ft therefore 11 off-street spaces are required for
the entire 1st floor of the commercial area. Mr. Wegner stated that when including the
apartments, the total site requirement for off-street parking spaces were determined to be 19. Mr.
Wegner further explained that the site was designed and approved by the Planning Board to have
enough off-street spaces without requiring a variance to accommodate the commercial space but



when the seating for Baked By Susan was increased to 28 seats (after site approval) is when the
variance became required. The condition requiring the purchasing of Village parking permits for
off-street spaces was because with 28 seats, every 4 seats require 1 off-street parking spot
therefore 7 additional spots were required.

Mr. O’Keefe then shared his belief that the major flaw was with the original Planning Board
approval of the required number of spaces which he stated were determined and approved based
on the full, unoccupied commercial floor space of 2,500 sq ft. Mr. O’Keefe expressed that his
issue was that once the space was built out, only the service area should have been counted, not
the entire open undefined space. Mr. O’Keefe stated that once the space was divided and built
out, they had to go to the Planning Board for a change of use permit and he felt the space should
have been considered differently and that the parking requirements should have been based on the
service area for customers and work space, not the portion that is used for storage.

The floor space that should be counted towards parking requirements was questioned and
debated.

The Board then asked Mr. O’Keefe where in the code it supported his argument and stated it
seemed that he was making an interpretation of the code. Mr. O’Keefe was unable to provide
evidence from the code to support his argument regarding the definition of retail space but
claimed the misinterpretation took place when the original building was approved.

Mr. O’Keefe again requested that the application be heard by the Planning Board for an interpretation.

The Board asked the applicant for clarification if the argument was that they felt the space was being
double counted. Mr. O’Keefe confirmed that that was exactly their argument, that they were being asked
to meet the regulations for the undefined space of 2,500 sq ft but then after defining the space, that the
defined retail and service space is just a portion of the total space and therefore the required number of
off-street parking spaces should be less. The Board then asked what Mr. O’Keefe would consider the rest
of their space if not retail. Mr. O’Keefe stated that the rest of the space was workspace and wholesale
space. The Board then asked where he was getting his definition of retail/service space from. Mr.
O’Keefe replied he looked it up in the dictionary. The Board clarified that the code did not specifically
define what retail space was and therefore felt that the applicant was arguing his interpretation of the
code.

Chairperson Wagner stated that the Board could not resolve the matter at the present meeting because
there were several issues at hand that needed to be addressed. The first matter was because the applicant
was requesting to be heard by the Planning Board that they then had to determine who the governing body
would be to make the assessment on the application (Planning Board or Zoning Board). Furthermore, the
applicants were asking for an interpretation but that application was submitted for an area variance. Mr.
Wegner added that they would have to consider whether this should be an application for an
interpretation.

Ms. O’Keefe then shared that at the May 8th 2019 meeting there was a statement made that the business
could return to the Board to revisit the issue of the parking once they were opened for business when they
would have a better understanding of traffic and that they could apply for an amendment to the variance.

Chairperson Wagner then opened the meeting for public comment but noted that it should be kept in mind
that there were 2 issues at hand: 1) defining the code and interpretation of code and 2) if the additional
off-street parking spaces are needed or if they can be produced by the variance that was granted in 2019.



Chairperson Wagner invited the public up to speak and reminded them the meeting will remain open and
be carried over to next month's regularly scheduled meeting.

Mr. Michael Mamone and Kathleen Mamone of 19 Young Avenue came forward to speak.

Mr. Mamone read a written statement (attached) expressing his concerns over the on-street
parking situation in the area and the negative effects that withdrawing/not enforcing the condition
for Baked By Susan to have the additional off-street parking. Mr. Mamone requested that the
Board give the residential owners consideration in the matter. Mr. Mamone asked that they
consider where patrons will park and the negative impact that revoking the condition could have
on the traffic and safety in the area. Mr. Mamone expressed his concerns with Bake By Susan’s
liquor license application and how seating and parking may be impacted by their hosting of
dinner parties.

The Board asked Mr. Mamone if when the first application was heard, had he ever approached the Village
Board with his concerns. Mr. Mamone shared that a poll for the residence in the neighborhood was sent
out.

Mr. Jan Klier of 33 Young Ave came forward to speak.

Mr. Klier stated he resided on Young Ave (when making the right turn off Benedict when coming
from Baked By Susan). Mr. Klier stated that they had been involved with the parking issue since
the original Zoning Board application in 2019 when he submitted comments to the Board
regarding the parking issues. Mr. Klier shared he submitted 2 pictures on April 10, 2024 in
regards to the current application. Mr. Klier expressed he was overall happy with the vital
business district in the area and supported Baked By Susan as a business however felt strongly the
Village has to address the issues with the commercial parking felt that the parking was
inconsistent with how the businesses are laid out. Mr. Klier referenced the Salon M car parked
on the street as seen in one of the submitted photographs and stated that he felt employee parking
as well as customer parking were both issues to be considered. Mr. Klier discussed the layout of
the parking lot in the rear of the building and stated that there is a lot of traffic going in and out
and if it is difficult to access people will go the path of least resistance and park on the street and
same for employees if they are being asked to park down by Shoprite. Mr. Klier was asking that
the Board take into consideration what people will actually do; what is the easiest and most
convenient. Furthermore, Mr. Klier stated that from his perspective, what really needed to be
looked at was how commercial parking has impacted the residential neighborhood and asked that
it be balanced out. Mr. Klier shared that he felt that how the lack of the parking permit system
has negatively impacted his block should be examined. Mr. Klier shared that he had originally
submitted comments to the Village Board regarding the matter but did not have any discussions
with them. Mr. Klier added that the issue of visibility with the on-street parking should be
examined as well and felt that it was unfortunate Baked By Susan was getting caught up in the
variance because this is a greater issue that should be looked at. Mr. Klier then addressed the
point raised by the applicants regarding the consideration of how much square footage should be
counted and felt there would be some logic to the point if the rest of the space was storage space
but it is prep space occupied by employees and employees need parking spaces and while current
employees may walk, future employee transportation has to be accounted for.

The Board thanked Mr. Klier for his comment and Chairperson Wagner asked the applicants if
they wanted to respond or wait until the issue of interpretation was resolved.

6



The applicants chose to respond to the public. Ms. O’Keefe thanked the public for coming out to
share and while some of the issues could be revisited later, Ms. O’Keefe wanted to share that
when they originally applied in 2019, they conducted a traffic study and it remains on record.
Ms. O’Keefe shared that they also took more recent pictures of the area and stated that she is
there every day and has seen the streets be empty. Ms. O’Keefe claimed that cars associated with
their business are not parking on Oneida Ave but confirmed they are parking on Benedict

Blvd. Ms. O’Keefe replied to Mr. Mamone, referencing their commercial truck being parked on
the street and stated they always use one of the spots in the rear of the building for their truck as
they know it is large and would never park it in front of someone’s home. Ms. O’Keefe shared
that she could relate to the residents in the neighborhood near Baked by Susan as they reside on
Farrington Rd and experience traffic and parking congestion on their street for patrons for The
Tavern on Riverside Drive.

Ms. O’Keefe discussed that at the time, providing parking at Shoprite was dangerous to walk to
the business prior to the Village installing sidewalks and walkway approximately 1-year ago.
Furthermore, she responded to Mr. Mamone’s comment said they had no intention of operating as
a bar and that the liquor license would be to serve alcohol at the dinner parties they host and are
considering the idea of having brunches or having beverages when there is live music. It was
noted that the business closes at 6:00p.m.

Mr. O’Keefe concluded by saying that they originally came before the Board to seek a variance
and that they are currently only asking for what is required of them, to not be double counted, and
not asking to be excused.

The Board asked where exactly the parking spots to be purchased were located. Mr. O’Keefe
stated that the original offer was to purchase permits/spots down at ShopRite which was
challenging because the Blaze for 3 months out of the year made those spots inaccessible and the
other alternative was going by the train station. Mr. O’Keefe also asked the Board to consider
that during COVID businesses were essentially shut down and felt to be viewed as a fully
operating business for those first two years was unfair.

The Board asked if the two spots that were purchased were at ShopRite. Ms. O’Keefe stated they
were not, that they were at the lot at the dead-end of Benedict Blvd. The Board asked if they
could purchase additional spots in that lot. Mr. O’Keefe argued that while asked to purchase 7
permits for 7 spots, at any given time, they only have 2 employees that drive. While they have 9
employees, the majority do not drive and felt they were being forced to purchase spots they do
not need.

Mr. O’Keefe stated the basic premise is that they felt they have met the zoning requirements and
do not need a variance so they have asked that the Planning Board review and either make an
interpretation or send it back to the Zoning Board for an interpretation.

Chairperson Wagner stated that while the Board could continue to discuss the application, before
they proceed, an informed review analysis of the code and interpretation has to be done.

The Board briefly revisited how the required number of parking spots were determined and
wanted to note that the 2500 square feet was for the entire commercial space that had then been
subdivided into two spaces: Salon M and Baked-By-Susan. Mr. Wegner clarified that 11 spots
were required for the entire commercial space and that % of the 11 required spaces belonged to



Baked By Susan. The Board noted as it stood, they would consider the prep space where
employees work as space that needed to be considered but reiterated, they must review and
determine what the code says.

Ms. O’Keefe requested that the Board take into consideration the differences between their
business and the Salon’s business because she felt it was not an “apples-to-apples” comparison.
The Board then asked if they would like to respond on record as to what the number of seats they
have.

The applicants said they would and stated they currently have 20 seats available for patrons. The
Board asked if the 20 seats are consistent because the space is fluid and can change depending on
the events being held there and asked if they add and take away tables depending on the events
being held there. Mr. O’Keefe stated “it is pretty much consistent.”

There was then some discussion about the poll that had been originally conducted. The Board
asked the public what they felt the issues with the poll were. They shared that a lot of residents
did not respond and that there was a misunderstanding that the residents would have to pay for
the permits. The Board questioned whether a poll could be re-done. There was also discussion
about when the parking time increased from 2 to 4 hour parking and the impact of commuter
parking as well.

Ms. Mamone stated she was frustrated that she felt the business owners believed they don’t need
to purchase and provide the required off-street parking spaces and questioned who was looking
out for the residents and pedestrians in the neighborhood. Mr. Mamone added that the code and
laws need to be obeyed.

Mr. Klier added he wanted to respond to the issue of zoning when looking at uniform spots and
emphasized that he felt it was important to know and consider what the code number requirements are for
parking to create uniformity.

Mr. Mamone stated he had a few more points he would like to make a few more points regarding
the Blaze and how he felt it was a hindrance to Baked By Susan and felt it was simple for the
Village Board to demand the Blaze provide spots to the business. Mr. Mamone added that he also
wanted to address the code and that he believed that based on calculations and regulations, the
building itself had correct number of spots.

Chairperson Wagner drew the application to a close by stating they were leaving the public hearing open
as it has to be determined which Board has authority over the interpretation of which may involve
consulting the Village attorney. Chairperson Wagner stated that if the public had unique thoughts in the
future, they are welcome to share but that the Board has their comments thus far on record. Discussions
were paused, the public hearing remained open and the applicants were informed that they would be
informed which Board they would be returning to.

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Mr. Tuman made a motion to approve the March 21, 2024 minutes. Seconded by
Chairperson Wagner. The motion was carried by a vote of 4-0. All in Favor. (Mr.
Mastronardi, abstained).



4. ADJOURNMENT

The meeting was duly adjourned at 9:40 pm.

Respectfully Submitted by,

Stefanie Correale
Secretary to the Zoning Board of Appeals






( )

Statement Read/Submitted by
Michael Mamone, 19 Young Ave
April 11, 2024

W. JX;/WJ ro e Nuideadinl
duntd o el eo e gommeanio L.
prnepels . S0 Qloace gurt Zhe pptidentae
g e _eyact GpeeTs 2o
g,o‘uz,/ZZa commireisl 2GR g plichmens




-

| /ﬂﬂgﬂ W - bure -,W
| ' CEre,
and) Opida %2"'/?

A ey
Zug. ,_me;




WM ‘ ,% erm "Watl ¥
'_wm"é‘;éﬂwé‘w s o e ncellosy AT
Mﬂém :J%]ﬂ/wlo- "6 é«f,thN Anfv ’ N
s ane po gl 2T el poilad
. Oneida dot aXe the necloo. s aZlgil,
'%LA%MW 1o Msan ' Go akead
MACL '/b.”w/ﬂﬂk/”@a“ of

Y

A Lawns h;iwkpﬂéé;‘%ote

| _Aermesrpona, o Yo arvantion

Two \Lehueles AX e pama
M&a ‘%M‘M&%W










i %W’Dm
WACCOV APt = A

Ao poreorath on The Bphat By Sioa
e s

HOQAY aZ G:Y5 M ket wao ) aeats
,%@ (MM@LMLM)U’JMZAMM
| WIVITRY L2 v S o e . D

- belive thon cumnenT Lo depiets 1o




/0.

D
82000l L0 oS "
' Tomﬂ/ul
> oy

b gl g T LT, o
|)0/:M Ry, MP%%
| 73{,«&3 cansitly Aave 3@ Qoo .ﬁi@ %

W7y =
. Z@ -Z%a %m onl Casn ”W
A e Y fn ﬁﬁfb v/




-

i

1 & Jactrrii pee, 2n o ymety Jouod, 7o e
80, w The v, Aoard coelollin, Thu
M& ) —%df‘w” é‘MW

ot of Mo JLW;L&MB
i ; A
80" ook Y 1706004 aok 2t e Ko







|
|

WWWW Can

mxeméﬁmm’\
W@AA-QM. wa’b,/d«ozéaa o

Coed . £ Y};&\
W:;,%;M%
; L on -
B STRT L I A X

C // gf&%alf 17/‘:,'0 WVM

ane o inrsaideitiol gnea.. LJJJ«W
MQ%M@M T Mocorns @

WVM/_A ol ove , ﬂ&m%

&wws\ 04 ld,cég 4o M
/4«24/7 Wwﬂ %
/Z?ftﬂ.@/mvg Vb aL“a‘m
%' e Q ,;Zi‘.a-t
Qe ‘made /j ZZ;
ar et Thu,

\o "]J& M Code Nog | 07\5,43&,@
et W@mfﬂ%&%

- Lawr, TO oaovude Hhin 40 o Reniwey pmitte~,




LY |

Aisand e e pswer o
HAorea L B,
&/ution e ”‘,%
/Qt‘ WL/W:
S « M%
'/W ,
AU //6{/
:




"N

il

3



